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Programmed Maintenance Services’ business, founded in 1951, 
provides a growing range of property maintenance services to 
commercial, industrial and institutional property owners.
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Fifth consecutive year of double-digit growth in group
revenue and profit

Increase in final dividend to 5 cents per share with 
50% franking, from 4 cents unfranked

Strong increase in net operating cash flows to $12.9 million

Record number of hours worked in painting divisions

Continued strong growth in New Zealand with 
a 27.7% increase in revenue to A$26.0 million 

Strong expansion in the United Kingdom with broad
acceptance of the programme concept 

Increase in productivity and customer satisfaction 
through implementation of field-based technology

Rapid growth in building services with revenue increasing 
by $7.4 million to $20.7 million

Net debt down to $46.9 million from $53.5 million

Highlights
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Geoff Tomlinson
Chairman

A globally unique business

The business of Programmed Management Services Limited 
was founded in 1951 and is Australia’s leading property
maintenance group. It provides a growing range of property
maintenance services to commercial, industrial, institutional 
and government property owners in Australia, New Zealand 
and the United Kingdom. Programmed Maintenance Services 
and its 1,500 employees maintain over 60,000 buildings and
structures for more than 5,500 customers across a network 
of over 50 branches.

The company operates:

• the largest contract painting businesses in Australia and New Zealand

• a rapidly-growing contract painting business in the UK

• one of Australia’s top three grounds management  businesses 

• an integrated building services business which maintains a range 
of property assets in Australia

• an industrial services business, which provides a range of industrial
and underground asset maintenance services in Australia.

In the 1950s the company pioneered its globally-unique business 
model, based on long-term maintenance programmes, with initial
refurbishment followed by regular ongoing preventative maintenance.



For the fifth successive year, Programmed Maintenance Services
has increased its sales and earnings by more than 10%. Most of
this growth has been organic, demonstrating the strength of
our business model and our ability to expand profitably across
economic cycles.

Our reported profit after tax for the year to 31 March 2003 was
$14.3 million. This included an after-tax benefit of $0.4 million 
in the first half due to a change in valuing work in progress.
Without this change the profit would have been $13.9 million,
an increase of 11.4% on $12.5 million after-tax profit for the
previous year. Earnings per share increased to 21.2 cents from 
19.4 cents, excluding the work in progress benefit.

Your directors have declared an increased final dividend of
5.0 cents per share, franked to 50%, payable on 24 July 2003 to
shareholders on the register at 9 July. This compares with 4.0 cents
unfranked in 2002 and brings total dividends for the year to 
9.0 cents (2002: 8.0 cents). The dividend reinvestment plan will
apply to this dividend, with shares issued at market price.
Shareholders who choose not to take up the plan will be paid a
cash dividend out of our resources. It is pleasing that shareholders
took up 55% of the shares available under the plan in respect of
the interim dividend paid in January, reflecting their confidence 
in the company’s continuing performance.

Net operating cash flow increased to $12.9 million from 
$4.9 million in 2002, with significant contributions from 
one-off projects in the Australian painting division and growth 
in the building services, industrial services and New Zealand
painting businesses. This has enabled us to reduce net debt 
to $46.9 million, representing 54% of equity (2002: 74%),
providing the company with a solid base to finance further
business development.

Contract recoverables, which are the funds we will receive 
in future years for work completed under our long-term
maintenance programmes, grew to $126.6 million at 31 March 
from $116.9 million at 31 March 2002. This major asset reflects
the growth in programmes, which remain the core of our
business.

As detailed later in this report, the company has made significant
investments in upgrading our information and reporting systems.
We have also continued the development of our people through
skills-based training, Occupational Health & Safety awareness 
and process refinement across all levels of the organisation.

Your directors have continued to guide and monitor the progress
of the company in accordance with appropriate corporate
governance practices. The Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) now 
requires listed companies to disclose the extent to which they have
complied with the “Best Practice Recommendations” of the ASX
Corporate Governance Council issued on 31 March 2003. Your
directors are reviewing these recommendations, and the Statement
of Corporate Governance included in this report provides details
of the company’s actions. I will provide an update of this review 
at the Annual General Meeting in August.

I would like to thank all members of our team for their
contribution to another excellent year of continued growth.

Geoff Tomlinson
Chairman

20 June 2003
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Investing in our people
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Max Findlay
Managing Director

Above: Jane Fancis, Gardener, completed her apprenticeship with PMS during 2002.

Right: Kerrie-Lee Whitmore, Apprentice Painter with Lee Rowley, Foreman, Painting Divison.



I am extremely pleased to advise shareholders that the double-
digit percentage growth in both revenue and profit for 2003
continues the company’s sound performance since listing in 1999.
This consistent growth provides clear evidence that our strategy 
of product diversification and geographic expansion continues to
enhance shareholder value.

The value of our maintenance painting programmes, which
provide long-term revenue streams and underpin future earnings,
is recognised by an increasing number of our customers. Total
hours worked by our overall painting business topped 1.8 million
during the year, representing growth of 10.7% compound per
annum over the past 10 years.

A highlight of the year was the performance of our New Zealand
painting business. Its revenue growth of 27.7% was driven by
continued demand for programmes in the education sector,
as well as further penetration of other industry segments.

In the United Kingdom, take-up of maintenance painting
programmes accelerated, more than doubling the number 
of programmes in the past 12 months. We are increasingly
confident of the potential in this country due to the uniqueness 
of our product and acceptance and interest in the market.

We continue to extend our geographical spread, and during 
the year we opened our 36th branch in Australia, our 13th in 
New Zealand and our sixth in the United Kingdom. Our 
branch network gives us significant leverage for national and
trans-Tasman projects. During the year we re-imaged 235 
Home Hardware stores across Australia and 135 Jeans West 
stores in Australia and New Zealand.

We are very pleased with the progress made by our building
services and grounds management divisions, which supports 
our strategy to offer a broader range of property maintenance
services. Their growth is benefiting from increased focus on 
cross-selling opportunities. In the latter part of the year, we 
won a major combined painting and carpentry services contract
for Myer Grace stores, while our long-term relationship with 
the University of Adelaide has continued to develop with our
traditional painting and grounds maintenance services. We are
actively packaging and promoting our services to distinct markets
such as nursing homes and hospitals, schools and universities, and
government agencies.

Since listing on the ASX in October 1999, we have increased 
both our revenue and earnings before interest and tax by over
50%. We now maintain over 60,000 buildings and structures for
over 5,500 blue chip customers.

This trend is underpinned by a strong growth culture 
throughout the company and we expect it to continue. To enable
us to meet our projections, we are investing in our people,
technology and processes.

People are critical to our growth. To meet and exceed customers’
expectations, we need people not only skilled in trade and in
management, but who also embrace our corporate culture.
Development of people internally and through external courses 
is one of our priorities and we are committed to providing
training and development opportunities for all our employees.

Improvement of our internal and customer account management
processes is another major focus. During the year we established 
a safety, quality and training team across Australia and New
Zealand. This will ensure that, as we grow, our practices and
processes are performed to consistently high quality and safety
standards throughout all operating regions.

Operationally, we are developing and utilising technology to
increase productivity, differentiate the company in our markets,
and provide customers with improved access to information 
about our work on their properties. We are upgrading our
processes to improve project management and provide more
accurate and meaningful performance management measures.
Technology is also enabling us to achieve enhanced efficiencies
throughout all divisions within the organisation.

In the following pages we summarise our progress during the 
year and the initiatives and successes that have assisted us in
continuing to deliver revenue and earnings growth.

Max Findlay
Managing Director

20 June 2003
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INVESTING IN OUR PEOPLE

Our growth projections indicate that in the next five years, we will need 
to recruit over 800 new tradespeople. At the same time, a shortage of
skilled tradespeople in Australia and overseas is becoming critical. 
The Programmed Maintenance Services apprentice programme seeks to
address this by bringing young people into the group and developing their
trade skills as well as their proficiency in areas such as communication,

customer relationship development and project management. This
programme also aims to provide a career development path, promoting
greater career choice for apprentices. Illustrating the benefits of this
approach, Jason Taylor, a former apprentice painter and now area
manager, Western Sydney, was named the 2002 Employers First “Employee
of the Year”.
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Business Overview

Australia

PROPERTY
MAINTENANCE

Branches: 32
Revenue: $124.4 million

ACTIVITIES

Integrated property maintenance 
services consisting of:
• the largest contract painting business 

in Australia;
• one of Australia’s top three grounds

management businesses; and
• a building services business which

provides maintenance audits,
programmed cyclical maintenance and
essential service and compliance audits.

HIGHLIGHTS

• Re-imaged 235 Home Hardware sites across Australia
• Awarded integrated $13 million painting and building services 

contract with Myer Grace 
• Achieved 75% increase in revenue in grounds 

management in Victoria 
• Opened two new building services branches in 

Western Australia and Queensland
• Pioneered the development and use of innovative technology,

including hand-held auditing and estimating devices in building
services and a web-based customer imaging management
system in painting.

Australia

INDUSTRIAL 
SERVICES

Branches: 8 
Revenue: $16.9 million

ACTIVITIES

Trading as Barry Bros. Specialised
Services, provides a range of 
sewerage and drain maintenance, 
high pressure cleaning, non-destructive
digging services and water 
recycling technologies.

HIGHLIGHTS

• Acquired sixth non-destructive digging unit
• Opened eighth branch at Altona, Victoria
• Won major contracts in Queensland,  extended root-

cutting programme with Sydney Water and undertook
major concrete demolition project at Lake Narracarn
in Victoria using Aqua cutter.

New Zealand 

PROPERTY
MAINTENANCE

Branches: 13 
Revenue: $26 million

ACTIVITIES

Operates the largest contract
painting business in New Zealand.

HIGHLIGHTS

• Opened a new branch in Whangarei, North Island
• Increased sales conversion rate
• Won/renewed contracts with a diverse set of organisations

including Canterbury Meats, Lion Breweries, Sealord, West Coast
Health, Montana Wines, Cadbury Confectionery, Telstra More
Mobile, Carter Holt Harvey Ecopine, Kiwi Bank and Westpac.

United Kindom 

PROPERTY
MAINTENANCE

Branches: 6
Revenue: $17.8 million

ACTIVITIES

Trading as Whittle Painting Group,
introducing the concept of long-term
paint maintenance programmes to
the United Kingdom market. 

HIGHLIGHTS

• Signed 43 new long-term contracts, bringing the
total number of programmes in the UK to 80

• Established debt facility with Yorkshire Bank to
finance development of UK business

• Opened sixth branch in Newcastle
• Invested in the corporate brand by growing the

Whittle fleet by 12 vehicles to a total of 20.
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EBITREVENUE
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Helping customers keep track of our work

Bridgestone uses our Customer Image Management system to keep track of 180 sites 
across Australia.



Australia

Property Maintenance
Our property maintenance business, which provides painting,
grounds management and building services, increased its 
revenue by 15.4% to a record $124.4 million. A strong second 
half, particularly during December and January, more than
compensated for a tough start to the year, when we took on a
number of one-off contracts at lower margins over the winter
period. Profit before tax in the second half was $8.1 million
compared with $7.1 million in the second half of 2001-2.

We were awarded a $13 million five-year contract from Myer Grace
to provide painting services nationally and carpentry services in
two states. This demonstrates our ability to package, cross-sell and
operationally perform our integrated maintenance services.

Painting

The Painting Services Division continued to grow and performed
well in Victoria, New South Wales and Western Australia despite
increasing competition. A downturn in the demand for heavy duty
coatings affected the Queensland results. In South Australia the
drought and the impact of the higher Australian dollar on our wine
and food customers adversely affected our business in those sectors.

Our trans-Tasman capability is a significant strength and
contributed to our retail sector growth – we painted 235 
Home Hardware stores in Australia and 135 Jeans West stores
across Australia and New Zealand. We are developing our 
project management skills to increase this competitive advantage.
Our penetration of the health industry increased, mainly from
new contracts in New South Wales.

Continued refinement of our sales management processes resulted
in a higher rate of programme renewals and an improvement in
converting quoted work to sales.

Grounds Management

The Grounds Management Division increased its revenue by 
$0.4 million to $11.8 million. This was achieved despite the
impact of the drought which restricted discretionary spending 
by this division’s customers. The increased focus on landscaping
activities has been successful with a steady increase in contracts
and revenue.

Victoria had a record year, with a 75% increase in revenue, due 
to a combination of new maintenance contracts and landscaping
work. The new branch in Western Australia is already profitable
and doubled its revenue over the previous year. New South Wales
overcame last year’s problems and continued to grow, making a
positive contribution in the second half. Results in South Australia
also turned around in the second half. We continue to retain 
90% of our customers and  to develop business in the education,
aged care and government sectors.

We implemented initiatives to increase staff skills, retention 
and productivity. We have also upgraded technology to 
increase productivity and manage plant and equipment more
cost-effectively.
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Review of Business Operations

HELPING CUSTOMERS KEEP TRACK OF OUR WORK

How does a business with nearly 200 franchised sites spread across
Australia ensure that each one is presenting the right corporate image?
This was the dilemma that Bridgestone faced and which it brought to
Programmed Maintenance Services. The Customer Image Management
(CIM) system that we developed in response enables Bridgestone’s head
office staff to review all of the company’s 180 sites online. After logging in

to a secure website, individual stores can be selected and images can be
downloaded, showing the current appearance of the building and planned
corporate re-imaging artwork. The CIM system also provides details of
individual store contacts and the status of re-imaging projects. Company-
wide the system is being used to manage over 600 sites, providing the
users with easy access to details and digital images of individual sites. 
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Providing integrated service solutions

Top left: The historic buildings of Adelaide University, North Terrace Campus.

Top right: Giles Smart-Foster, Grounds Management Team Leader tending to garden 
beds at Adelaide University.

Above: Giles Smart-Foster, Grounds Management Team Leader and Chad Ceifert, 
Painting Division Foreman, Adelaide University.



Building Services

The Building Services Division continued its rapid growth,
strengthening customer relationships and improving operating
cash flows. Revenue increased by $7.4 million to $20.7 million.
In addition to the Myer Grace contract, significant new contracts
included the refurbishment of aged care facilities and maintenance
management for the Aboriginal Housing Trust in South Australia
and contract renewals by two large schools in Victoria.

We opened new offices in Western Australia and Queensland, which
have enabled further integration and alignment across all states.

Our focus on improving and upgrading our systems and 
business processes has enabled us to provide customers with 
more accurate estimates and streamlined project management.
National pricing agreements and national and local agreements
with sub-contractors, coupled with programmes to develop the
skills of our tradespeople, are providing strong foundations for 
the future. We have also established national supplier purchasing
arrangements to reduce costs on refurbishment projects.

During the year, we pioneered the development and use of
innovative technology, including hand-held auditing and estimating
devices, which resulted in more efficient compliance audits.
Our web-based, automated e-maintenance system gives customers
access to real time maintenance schedules and status reporting.

Industrial Services
The industrial services business, which trades as Barry Bros.
Specialised Services, regained its growth momentum in the first
half following a weak performance in 2001-2.

The drought affected second half revenue due to reduced drain
maintenance work, especially in regional centres. In some country
areas there was no work for five months and we moved both
people and equipment to other more productive regions. The loss
of a major contract and the consequent reduction in resources
caused the Latrobe Valley branch in Victoria to incur a loss for
the year.

Demand for non-destructive digging services continued to grow,
particularly in New South Wales, and our sixth unit arrived in 
the fourth quarter. We won major contracts in Queensland and
extended our preventative maintenance for Sydney Water with 
our root-cutting programme. Our new Altona branch is expected
to open up opportunities and improve utilisation of our industrial
cleaning and vacuuming capacity.
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Review of Business Operations continued

PROVIDING INTEGRATED SERVICE SOLUTIONS

Programmed Maintenance Services’ integrated offering provides
customers with access to a range of complementary services, delivered 
by people with whom a relationship is already in place. When we extended
our grounds management services to South Australia seven years ago, 
we introduced our new team and its offering to our existing customers. 
One of these was the University of Adelaide where we have provided

painting services for over 14 years. Several years later when the 
university sought to outsource grounds management it chose Programmed
Maintenance Services, basing the decision on our proven capabilities and
cost-effectiveness. Today, in addition to maintenance painting programmes
for over 25 university buildings, we provide grounds management services
across four campuses. 
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Broad brush for New Zealand

Top left: The Sealord site in Port Nelson, the single largest fishing port in Australasia.

Top right: The entrance to Montana Brancott Winery, the largest single winery in New Zealand.

Above: One of the 165 Westpac sites across New Zealand that we are re-imaging.



New Zealand

Our New Zealand business had another very strong year with
reported revenue and earnings both increasing by over 20%.
This result was assisted by an exchange gain, and in New Zealand
dollars revenue increased by 18% and pre-tax profit by 14.3%.

During the year we won significant new contracts including
Canterbury Meats, Lion Breweries, Sealord Group, Montana
Wines, and three hospitals for West Coast Health. Cadbury
Confectionery renewed and extended our contract and we began
new business relationships with several Carter Holt Harvey
Ecopine sites.

Education continued to be a strong growth market contributing
over 47% of new sales. We also completed re-imaging projects for
80 Telecom More Mobile stores, 100 Kiwi Bank branches and a
number of fast food outlets for Burger King and Restaurant Brands.

We opened a branch in Invercargill at the beginning of the year,
and another at Whangarei in the fourth quarter. In addition 
to our geographical expansion, we continued to upgrade our
processes and services, and our feedback surveys have showed 
an increase in customer satisfaction.

United Kingdom

Our United Kingdom business, Whittle Painting Group, continued
to build demand for long-term maintenance programmes which
are unique in this market. While the traditional Whittle one-off
painting contract business provided over 90% of revenue, 40 new
maintenance programmes have been secured since the previous
annual report, bringing the total to 80 with a value of more than
$8 million.

Revenue increased by 8.7% to $17.8 million. Tighter cost
management and improved margins from programme work
resulted in a 14% rise in profit before tax to $330,000 after
accounting for goodwill amortisation, interest on acquisition
borrowings and UK head office costs.

Our six branches, which are located in the Midlands region,
employ 200 people and service a wide range of customers
including schools, hospitals, racecourses and various commercial
properties. Most external painting is done in the northern spring
and summer. As we develop programme work, we endeavour to
separate contracts for internal and external work so that we can
schedule internal work in the winter period. During the year we
bought 12 new vans, bringing the total to 20, and our distinctive
green and white logo is becoming recognised in the marketplace.

We introduced a number of business development practices
proven in the Australian and New Zealand markets. We were 
the only painting contractor among 84 trade exhibitors at a 
recent national conference of independent school bursars  
and we received over 100 enquiries for follow-up visits.
Our partnership agreements with two major paint suppliers have
proven effective, with increased promotion of our programme
concept and customer referencing.

Whittle employees are increasingly enthusiastic about our 
unique programme concept, and it is clear that this product 
offers considerable growth opportunities, particularly in the
education sector.
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Review of Business Operations continued

BROAD BRUSH FOR NEW ZEALAND

A well-presented and well-maintained building, funded through a flexible
payment programme that doesn’t drain funds in one hit, is proving
attractive to a broad range of businesses in New Zealand. Effective
marketing of the programmed approach to property maintenance has 
seen continued growth both in our traditional education market and across
a range of industries including food and beverage, retail, commercial,

tourism and manufacturing. We are repainting and maintaining 
New Zealand’s largest chocolate factory for Cadbury; making over the
flagship property of Montana Wines, the country’s biggest wine 
producer and exporter; transforming the massive Sealord site in Port
Nelson, Australasia’s largest fishing group; and re-imaging 165 Westpac
branches across the country. 



Clockwise from top left: Caption caption caption caption caption caption caption caption
caption caption caption caption caption caption caption caption caption caption caption
caption caption caption caption.

14_ANNUAL REPORT 2003  PROGRAMMED MAINTENANCE SERVICES L IMITED 

Top left: Whittle Painting Group’s Andrew Simpson (Nottingham branch), Phil Hodson 
(Preston branch) and Andy Baroth (Birmingham branch) at the national UK bursars’ conference.

Top right: Historic Kimbolton College in Cambridgeshire was an early adopter of a long-term
painting maintenance programme.

Above: Whittle Painting Group’s fleet of vans at Nottingham Racecourse.

The UK too likes our programmes



Our People
In the past year we have initiated a number of programmes 
to ensure our people continue to develop and achieve their 
full potential. Our corporate survey showed  Programmed
Maintenance Services employees have a very strong culture 
of identifying with the company and its goals. This is reflected 
in the length of service and loyalty of our people.

We have established formal training and development
programmes throughout the company. More than 150
tradespeople participated in programmes to improve their
supervision and customer communication skills. Training is 
also vital for management and we held our first leadership
development course conducted by the Mt Eliza Business School
for 20 high potential managers from Australia and New Zealand.
Two senior executives completed the four-week residential
advanced management programme at Mt Eliza.

Importantly, we have continued our apprenticeship programme 
to ensure we have sufficient resources to facilitate our long-term
growth objectives. Three trainees completed, and four began,
our management cadet programme.

Programmed Maintenance Services is committed to being an
“employer of choice” and we strongly support equal opportunity.
The assessment of the company by the Equal Opportunity for
Women in the Workplace Agency recognised our efforts to
provide an environment free from harassment and discrimination.

Our Occupational Health and Safety record continued to 
improve and the number of lost time injuries fell by 23%.
We have recently appointed a dedicated safety and quality
manager in each state and in New Zealand to maintain the
momentum of our safety programme.

Technology and Innovation
Our fully integrated IT system is having an increasing impact 
on productivity, and we are trialling a more efficient process 
flow which, when fine-tuned, will be introduced nationally 
and is expected to reduce our costs. A new customer sales and 
marketing system has also led to improved sales management 
and a more comprehensive customer knowledge database.

Our proprietary e-maintenance system, which uses internet
technology to manage maintenance of building and essential
services, was rolled out successfully during the year to customers
in the aged care, hospitality and education sectors across Australia.
In addition, we pioneered and implemented a unique customer
image management system, which provides online access for
customers to track the status of national re-imaging projects.
This provides an added value for our customers and a significant
point of distinction from our competitors.

Personal digital assistant tools have also been introduced to
capture field data for direct input into estimating and auditing
databases and reports, and we enhanced our account 
management system so we can manage customer and sales 
activity more effectively.
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Review of Business Operations continued

THE UK TOO LIKES OUR PROGRAMMES

At a recent conference in the United Kingdom attended by 800 private
school bursars, we received over 100 requests for follow-up meetings 
to discuss long-term maintenance programmes. Identifying leads and 
building relationships through trade and industry organisations is a
business development practice used by Programmed Maintenance

Services in both the New Zealand and Australian markets. It is also 
proving strikingly successful in the United Kingdom. From our first contract
with Nottingham Racecourse, we have now sold nearly 80 programmes. 
As the scope of our work expands, our visibility in the regions is also being
magnified by the branding of our growing fleet of vehicles.

2003 MANAGEMENT TEAM

Max Findlay, Managing Director
Ian Jones, General Manager, Finance and Administration
Denis Groves, Chief Executive, United Kingdom
Ian Craig, Group General Manager, Operations
Rowan Galbraith, General Manager, Southern Region
Paul Warman, General Manager, Northern Region
Nigel Caigou, General Manager, New Zealand
Bryan Horskins, General Manager, Business Development
Danny Shafar, General Manager, Marketing
Mark Piwkowski, General Manager, Building Services
David Maple, General Manager, Industrial Services
Mark Collins, Manager, Grounds Management
Jim Sherlock, Manager, Human Resources



Geoff Tomlinson, Chairman

Appointed chairman in August 1999, Mr Tomlinson is also the
chairman of Reckon Limited, and Neverfail Springwater Limited
and is the deputy chairman of Hansen Technologies Limited.
He is a director of the National Australia Bank Limited, Amcor
Limited and Mirrabooka Investments Limited. Mr Tomlinson
holds a Bachelor of Economics from the University of Western
Australia. Age 55.

Mr Tomlinson is an independent director and his term of office
expires in August 2003.

Susan Oliver, Non-executive Director

A non-executive director since August 1999, Ms Oliver also holds
non-executive directorships with Transurban City Link, The Smith
Family Limited and MBF, and is chair of ScreenSound Australia,
the national screen and sound archive. Ms Oliver has held senior
management positions in the Departments of Housing and
Construction and Industry, Science and Resources, and in 
the consulting companies Invetech and Andersen Consulting.
She has extensive professional experience in strategy, marketing,
technology and scenario planning and currently runs her own
consulting and advisory practice in these areas. Ms Oliver began
her career in the construction industry and has a Bachelor of
Property & Construction from Melbourne University and is a
Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. Age 52.

Ms. Oliver is an independent director and her term of office
expires in August 2004.

Max Findlay, Managing Director

Appointed managing director in March 1990, Mr Findlay is also
chairman of The PMS Foundation. He has extensive experience 
in industry, including over 20 years in marketing and general
management roles in the industrial and manufacturing industries.
Mr Findlay holds a Bachelor of Economics (Politics) from
Monash University and is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of
Company Directors. Age 56.

Brian Pollock, Non-executive Director

A non-executive director since August 1999, Mr Pollock has 
over 30 years experience in the finance and property industry 
with the AMP Society and National Mutual. He is chairman of
the Industry Superannuation Property Trust, Members Equity
Portfolio Management Limited and Becton Developments
Limited, and a director of Macquarie Real Estate Equity Fund 
No 1 Pty Ltd. He is a Fellow of the Australian Property Institute
and a Senior Associate of the Australian and New Zealand
Institute of Insurance and Finance. He was National President 
of the Property Council of Australia in 1993 and 1994. Age 57.

Mr Pollock is an independent director and his term of office
expires in August 2005.
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Directors
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The board of directors guides and monitors the business and
affairs of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited on behalf
of its shareholders, by whom the directors are elected and to
whom they are accountable.

The ASX Listing Rules were amended effective 1 January 2003 
and the format of the Corporate Governance Statement has been
changed. ASX Listing Rule 4.10.3 now requires listed companies 
to disclose the extent to which they have complied with the 
“Best Practice Recommendations” of the ASX Corporate
Governance Council.

Although the disclosure requirements take effect for financial
years commencing after 1 January 2003, the board of
Programmed Maintenance Services Limited has decided to 
adopt the requirements of ASX Listing Rule 4.10.3. in this 
annual report. Set out below are the principal corporate
governance practices of the company and the compliance with 
the “Best Practice Recommendations”. It is important to note 
that as the recommendations were issued on 31 March 2003,
the board has reviewed the recommendations and subsequently
made minor changes to practices and procedures that applied
throughout the financial year 2003 to comply with the
recommendations. Any instances of non-compliance with the
recommendations is noted.

RESPECTIVE ROLES OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The board is responsible for the overall corporate governance of
the economic entity, including engaging with management in the
development of strategic plans, preparation of annual budgets,
establishment of goals for management and monitoring the
achievement of those goals on a regular basis.

The board is also responsible for:

• reviewing the performance of the Managing Director 
and senior management;

• planning the development, retention and succession of
the management team;

• reviewing and ratifying systems of risk management and
internal compliance, including approving and monitoring 
the policies and procedures relating to occupational health 
and safety;

• approving and monitoring financial and other reporting,
including the progress of major capital expenditure and 
capital management; and

• approving and monitoring acquisitions and divestitures.

The board has established the Committees described below to
assist in its responsibility. At the time of this report, the board is
reviewing the delegated authorities to management to ensure that
the division of functions remains appropriate to the needs of the
company. Following this review, it is the intention of the board to
adopt a formal statement of delegated authority to management.

STRUCTURE AND COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

The names of the directors of the company at the date of this
statement are included in the Directors’ Report. The board
consists of four directors, one executive director (the managing
director) and three non-executive directors. The three non-
executive directors are assessed as being independent directors,
thereby complying with the recommendation that a majority 
of the board should be independent. The chairman is a non-
executive, independent director and there is a clear division of
responsibility between the chairman and the managing director.

In May 2003, the board determined to formally establish a
nomination committee. Prior to May 2003, the board informally
evaluated the board’s performance and determined the terms 
and conditions relating to the appointment and retirement of
directors. The formal charter of the nomination committee 
has not yet been finalised and approved by the board, however,
the committee will comprise all four directors and have the
responsibilities of:

• assessing the necessary and desirable competencies of board
members;

• reviewing the board’s succession plans;

• evaluating the board’s performance; and

• making recommendations for the appointment and removal 
of directors.

The nomination committee’s policy for the appointment of
directors has not yet been finalised, however, if a new non-
executive director were required, the board would seek the most
suitable person with an appropriate range of skills and expertise.
The identified individual would then stand for election at the 
next annual general meeting.

The non-executive directors are appointed for specific three year
terms under the constitution of the company, and upon the expiry
of the term are entitled to stand for re-election at the relevant
annual general meeting. The expiry date of each non-executive
director’s term of office is detailed on page 16 under the
biographical details of each director.

In the proper performance of their duties, each director has the
right to seek a reasonable level of independent professional advice
on matters concerning the company at the company’s expense,
after obtaining the chairman’s approval.

ETHICAL STANDARDS AND CODE OF CONDUCT

The company has previously advised shareholders that it endorses
the need for all directors, managers, office and field staff to
maintain a high standard of behaviour and business ethics in our
day-to-day business activities. The board has responsibility for
developing and monitoring:

• expectations with regard to ethical conduct;

• periods during which directors may deal in the securities of
the company and procedures for notification of such dealing;

• procedures to be adopted in respect of potential conflicts of
interest; and

• procedures for prior approval of contracts with directors.
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The board intends to establish a formal code of conduct that is
anticipated to comply with the best practice recommendations
regarding standards of ethical behaviour for directors, managers
and staff, and also regarding compliance with legal and other
obligations to non-shareholder stakeholders such as customers
and the community as a whole.

This formal code of conduct will combine in one document the
existing practices of the company. The letters of appointment
issued to managers and staff prevent the employees from taking
advantage of property, information or position, or opportunities
arising from these, for personal gain or to compete with the
company. The current policy of the company is to restrict trading
in the company’s shares by directors and certain key executives
with the exceptions of the thirty day period following the
announcement of annual and half-yearly results, and participation
in the dividend reinvestment plan.

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND AUDIT COMMITTEE

The managing director and the general manager, finance and
administration, have stated in writing to the board that the
company’s financial statements for each annual and half-yearly
report present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of
the company’s financial condition and operating results.

The board established a board Audit and Compliance Committee
in September 1999. In 2002, the name of the committee was
changed to the Board Audit Compliance and Risk Management
Committee. Since inception, the membership of the Committee
has comprised only non-executive independent directors, being:

• Brian John Pollock (Chair);

• Geoffrey Allan Tomlinson; and

• Susan Mary Oliver.

Although the Committee members are financially literate and
have public company experience in financial matters, none of
the Committee members has formal accounting qualifications.
The board is giving consideration to the possible appointment 
of a qualified accountant as a director.

The formal charter of the Board Audit Compliance and 
Risk Management Committee includes the following roles 
and responsibilities:

• reviewing the half-yearly and annual financial statements 
prior to their approval by the Board;

• monitoring the effectiveness of internal control and
management information systems;

• liaising with the external auditors to ensure that statutory
audits are conducted in an effective manner;

• monitoring compliance with the Corporations Law, Stock
Exchange Listing Rules and other regulatory authorities 
and financial institutions; and

• reviewing of significant areas of potential business and legal
risk when they are identified and determining procedures to
manage these risks on a case-by-case basis.

The number of meetings of the Audit Compliance and Risk
Management Committee, and the members’ attendance are
disclosed in the Directors’ Report on page 23.

TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE

To ensure compliance with the ASX Listing Rule disclosure
requirements and accountability at a senior management level 
for that compliance, the board has established written policies 
and procedures. Following review of these procedures, it is
anticipated that these procedures will be incorporated into 
the code of conduct (described above) regarding compliance.

The current practice of the board is to review and authorise 
any company announcement to ensure that the information 
is factual, timely, clearly expressed and contains all material
information so that investors can make appropriate assessments 
of the information for investment decisions.

The company is reviewing the opportunities to take advantage 
of technology, such as the company website, to provide greater
opportunities for effective communication with shareholders and
to encourage participation at meetings. The current practice of the
company is to place on the website all company announcements,
and related information, such as financial statements and public
presentations. When the code of conduct is approved by the
board, it will be placed on the website.

RISK OVERSIGHT AND MANAGEMENT

As described above, the Board Audit Compliance and Risk
Management Committee has responsibility to review significant
areas of potential business and legal risk, and to monitor the
effectiveness of internal control and management information
systems. In previous years, the managing director and the general
manager, finance and administration, have stated in writing to 
the board that the integrity of the financial statements has been
founded on a sound system of internal compliance and control.

A formal policy on risk management will be upgraded 
and presented to the Board Audit Compliance and Risk 
Management Committee to fully comply with the best 
practice recommendations.

REMUNERATION PRACTICES

The remuneration of the directors and the five senior executives 
of the company is disclosed in the Directors’ Report on pages 22
and 23. The disclosure includes the salary, superannuation
contributions, non-cash benefits and payments from incentive
schemes. The remuneration of the non-executive directors is
clearly distinguished from the managing director’s remuneration.
Any equity-based remuneration, such as the issue of share
options, is made in accordance with the thresholds set in 
plans approved by shareholders in 1999.

The board established the Remuneration Committee in 
September 1999. This Committee reviews and approves salary 
and other benefits for the managing director and senior
management of the company. The Remuneration Committee
meets as required. Since inception, the membership of the
Committee has comprised only non-executive independent
directors, being:

• Geoffrey Allan Tomlinson (Chair);

• Brian John Pollock; and

• Susan Mary Oliver.
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Directors’ Report

The directors of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited submit herewith the annual financial report for the financial
year ended 31 March 2003. In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the directors report as
follows:

DIRECTORS

The names of the directors of the company during or since the end of the financial year are:

Geoffrey Allan Tomlinson Chairman

Maxwell John Findlay Managing Director

Susan Mary Oliver Non-executive director 

Brian John Pollock Non-executive director

All of the abovenamed directors held office during and since the end of the financial year. Particulars of the directors are
shown on page 16 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The consolidated entity’s principal activities in the course of the financial year were the provision of property maintenance
services to commerce, industry and government by way of:

• programmed maintenance painting, grounds maintenance services, general property maintenance services and
corporate signage; and

• specialised industrial services.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The net amount of profit of the consolidated entity for the financial year after income tax expense was $14,319,000 (2002:
$12,487,000). A detailed review of the operations of the consolidated entity is contained in the Chairman’s and Managing
Director’s reports in this annual report.

CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS

There has been no significant change in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity, other than that referred to in the
financial statements or notes thereto.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There has not been any matter or circumstance, other than that referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto, 
that has arisen since the end of the financial year, that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the 
operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity 
in future financial years.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the consolidated entity in future financial 
years and the expected results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the consolidated entity.
Accordingly, this information has not been disclosed in this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

The consolidated entity aims to achieve a high standard on environmental matters. During the financial year:

• licences were renewed and taken out as and when required by environmental authorities; and

• the directors have not received notification nor are they aware of any breaches of environmental laws by the
consolidated entity.
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DIVIDENDS

In respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2002, as detailed in the directors’ report for that financial year, a final
dividend of $2,580,000 (4 cents per share), unfranked, was paid to the holders of fully paid ordinary shares on 25 July 2002.

In respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2003, an interim dividend of $2,627,000 (4 cents per share), franked to 
30% at the 30% corporate tax rate, was paid to the holders of fully paid ordinary shares on 24 January 2003.

In respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2003, the directors declared a final dividend of $3,357,000 (5 cents per
share), franked to 50% at the 30% corporate tax rate, to the holders of fully paid ordinary shares payable on 24 July 2003.

SHARE OPTIONS

During the financial year, an aggregate of 320,000 share options were granted by Programmed Maintenance Services
Limited. 200,000 share options were granted to I. H. Jones and 120,000 share options were granted to other executives of 
the company.

Date Issued No. Issued Issue Price Exercise Price Exercise Period

Start Expiry

8.05.02 128,000 Nil $2.49 29.09.02 29.09.04

8.05.02 96,000 Nil $2.54 29.09.03 29.09.05

8.05.02 96,000 Nil $2.57 29.09.04 29.09.06

The aggregate of unissued shares under option are as follows:

Date Issued No. Issued Issue Price Exercise Price Exercise Period

Start Expiry

29.09.99 780,000 19 cents $2.00 29.09.01 29.09.03

29.09.99 585,000 24 cents $2.00 29.09.02 29.09.04

29.09.99 585,000 27 cents $2.00 29.09.03 29.09.05

8.05.02 128,000 Nil $2.49 29.09.02 29.09.04

8.05.02 96,000 Nil $2.54 29.09.03 29.09.05

8.05.02 96,000 Nil $2.57 29.09.04 29.09.06

The holders of any of the above options do not have the right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share or interest
issue of any other body corporate or registered scheme. During the financial year no options were exercised in accordance
with the provisions of the executive and employee share option plan. 

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS

During the financial year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the directors of the company 
(as named above), the company secretary, Mr I. H. Jones, and executive officers of the company and of any related body
corporate against a liability incurred as such a director, company secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted 
by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount 
of the premium.

The company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or 
auditor of the company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.
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DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS

The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) held during
the financial year and the number of meetings attended by each director.

Audit and Compliance Remuneration 
Board of Directors Committee Committee

Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended

G. A. Tomlinson 18 18 6 5 1 1

M. J. Findlay 18 18 – – – –

S. M. Oliver 18 17 6 6 1 1

B. J. Pollock 18 18 6 6 1 1

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

The following table sets out each director’s relevant interest in shares and options in the company or a related body
corporate at the date of this report:

Fully Paid
Directors Ordinary Shares Share Options

G. A. Tomlinson 100,000 60,000

M. J. Findlay 1,000,000 250,000

S. M. Oliver *2,400 50,000

B. J. Pollock – 50,000

* Beneficial interest

DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVES’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration committee, which was set up in September 1999, reviews the remuneration packages of all directors 
and executive officers on an annual basis.

The Managing Director makes recommendations for executive staff to the remuneration committee. The Chairman,
Managing Director and non-executive directors’ remuneration arrangements are reviewed by the remuneration 
committee annually and recommendations are made to the Board.

DIRECTORS

The following table discloses the remuneration of the directors of the company.

Name Salary/Fees Superannuation Benefits Incentive Schemes Total

$ $ $ $ $

Non-executive Directors

G. A. Tomlinson 90,000 7,875 – – 97,875

S. M. Oliver 60,000 5,250 – – 65,250

B. J. Pollock 60,000 5,250 – – 65,250

Managing Director

M. J. Findlay 273,170 85,869 50,244 182,500 591,783
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EXECUTIVES

The following table discloses the remuneration of the five highest remunerated executives of the company, 
excluding the executive director.

Name Salary/Fees Superannuation Benefits Incentive Schemes Total

$ $ $ $ $

I. W. Craig 191,583 24,950 46,300 40,000 302,833

I. H. Jones 219,913 18,000 16,900 35,000 289,813

R. D. C. Galbraith 169,075 26,480 47,325 20,000 262,880

B. J. Horskins 160,309 34,900 28,250 25,000 248,459

P. Warman 140,436 22,751 27,124 30,000 220,311

Remuneration packages contain the following key elements:

(a) salaries/fees;

(b) benefits including the provision of motor vehicles; and

(c) incentive schemes

(i) for non-executive directors – notional interest on loans to take up option entitlements;

(ii) for executive director and senior executives – performance-related bonuses and notional interest on loans to take
up option entitlements; and

(iii) for senior executives – the value of share options granted is not capable of reliable measurement as their values
are conditional on the company’s share price outperforming market-related indices over the period from the 
issue date to the commencement of the exercise period. Accordingly, the value of share options is excluded from
the remuneration.

ROUNDING OFF OF AMOUNTS

The company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with
the Class Order, amounts in the directors’ report and the financial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars.

Signed in accordance with the resolution of the directors made pursuant to Section 298(2) of the Corporations 
Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

M. J. Findlay
Director

4 June 2003
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Statement of Financial Performance
for the financial year ended 31 March 2003

Consolidated Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue from ordinary activities 2 185,113 159,323 124,595 107,826 

Changes in inventories of finished goods 77 (4) 143 (34)

Raw materials and consumables used (18,962) (15,794) (10,313) (8,360)

Personnel costs (75,575) (67,621) (50,749) (45,803)

Sub-contractor costs (38,147) (28,962) (33,656) (25,219)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (6,618) (6,512) (3,917) (3,699)

Borrowing costs (3,232) (3,273) (2,150) (2,143)

Equipment and vehicle costs (6,495) (6,383) (4,187) (4,244)

Information technology and telecommunication costs (2,308) (2,156) (1,505) (1,422)

Other expenses from ordinary activities (12,804) (10,101) (5,039) (4,680)

Profit from Ordinary Activities
Before Income Tax Expense 2 21,049 18,517 13,222 12,222 

Income tax expense relating 
to ordinary activities 4 (6,730) (6,030) (4,185) (3,916)

Profit from Ordinary Activities 
After Related Income Tax Expense 14,319 12,487 9,037 8,306 

Increase/(Decrease) in foreign currency 
translation reserve arising on translation of 
self-sustaining foreign operations 29 2,435 (79) – – 

Total Revenue, Expense and Valuation 
Adjustments Attributable to Members of the 
Parent Entity Recognised Directly in Equity 2,435 (79) – – 

Total Changes in Equity Other than those 
Resulting from Transactions with 
Owners as Owners 16,754 12,408 9,037 8,306 

Earnings per Share:

Basic (cents per share) 36 21.8 19.4 

Diluted (cents per share) 36 21.8 19.3 

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 26 to 50.
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 March 2003

Consolidated Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current Assets

Cash assets 2,920 2,343 2,835 2,327 

Receivables 8 89,811 85,379 62,570 62,557 

Inventories 9 8,716 2,689 7,660 1,758 

Other financial assets 10 – – 2,488 2,033 

Current tax assets 11 28 533 – 524 

Other 12 3,636 3,511 2,325 2,349 

Total Current Assets 105,111 94,455 77,878 71,548

Non-current Assets

Receivables 13 70,807 64,784 46,584 44,732 

Inventories 14 5,310 – 4,308 – 

Other financial assets 15 426 426 12,309 12,596 

Property, plant and equipment 16 19,029 19,463 10,932 11,402 

Intangibles 17 2,479 2,527 – – 

Deferred tax assets 18 2,902 2,205 2,492 1,938 

Total Non-current Assets 100,953 89,405 76,625 70,668 

Total Assets 206,064 183,860 154,503 142,216 

Current Liabilities

Payables 20 17,136 12,181 11,299 7,409 

Interest-bearing liabilities 21 5,981 6,382 3,224 3,396 

Current tax liabilities 22 424 1,045 276 – 

Provisions 23 8,014 6,605 7,425 6,182 

Total Current Liabilities 31,555 26,213 22,224 16,987 

Non-current Liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 24 43,891 49,411 31,794 36,526 

Deferred tax liabilities 25 41,994 35,720 30,108 26,739 

Provisions 26 879 746 838 683 

Total Non-current Liabilities 86,764 85,877 62,740 63,948 

Total Liabilities 118,319 112,090 84,964 80,935 

Net Assets 87,745 71,770 69,539 61,281 

Equity

Contributed equity 28 17,406 12,201 17,406 12,201

Reserves 29 7,943 5,508 5,535 5,535 

Retained profits 30 62,396 54,061 46,598 43,545

Total Equity 87,745 71,770 69,539 61,281

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 26 to 50.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the financial year ended 31 March 2003

Consolidated Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts from customers 179,704 153,296 122,030 104,172

Payments to suppliers and employees (161,169) (143,096) (110,778) (97,590)

Interest received 88 52 75 35 

Interest and other costs of finance paid (3,264) (3,201) (2,150) (2,143)

Income tax paid (2,429) (2,124) (570) (1,620)

Net cash provided by operating activities 35(c) 12,930 4,927 8,607 2,854 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Proceeds on sale of investment securities – 63 – 63 

Amounts advanced to related parties – – – (881)

Payment for property, plant and equipment (3,857) (3,655) (1,650) (2,055)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,279 1,110 620 697 

Net cash used in investing activities (2,578) (2,482) (1,030) (2,176)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 90 8,468 – 7,822 

Repayment of borrowings (9,529) (3,850) (6,843) (2,395)

Proceeds from issue of equity securities 2,018 – 2,018 – 

Dividends paid (2,020) (5,160) (2,020) (5,160)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (9,441) (542) (6,845) 267 

Net Increase In Cash Held 911 1,903 732 945 

Cash at the Beginning of the Financial Year 889 (1,083) 1,515 570 

Effect of exchange rate changes on the 
balance of cash held in foreign currencies (137) 69 – – 

Cash at the End of the Financial Year 35(a) 1,663 889 2,247 1,515 

Notes to the financial statement are included on pages 26 to 50.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2003

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

FINANCIAL REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The financial report is a general purpose financial
report which has been prepared in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and
Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views, and complies
with other requirements of the law.

The financial report has been prepared on the basis 
of historical cost and, except where stated, does not
take into account changing money values or current
valuations of non-current assets. Cost is based on 
the fair values of the consideration given in exchange
for assets.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a
manner which ensures that the resulting financial
information satisfies the concepts of relevance and
reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the
underlying transactions and other events is reported.

The following significant accounting policies have been
adopted in the preparation and presentation of the
financial report:

(a) Revenue Recognition

RENDERING OF SERVICES

The revenue recognised from rendering of 
services combines:

(i) invoicing from the provision of the company’s
services inclusive of the amounts due and 
payable under the terms of the long-term
maintenance contracts;

(ii) revenue not yet invoiced but earned on work
completed in servicing long-term maintenance
contracts which, whilst owing to the company
under the terms of those contracts, will not 
become payable until future years; and

(iii) revenue not yet invoiced but earned on work
completed under contracts other than long-term
maintenance contracts.

The revenue earned on work completed comprises 
the costs incurred plus the individual contract margin
earned to date, based on the percentage of completion
and the expected contract margin.

The long-term maintenance contracts specifically 
detail both services to be performed and the 
invoicing components for each year of the contracts.
The company’s computerised contract administration
system enables the stage of completion of each
contract to be reliably measured against predetermined
budgets and regularly updated assessments of the 
work required for completion of the contract. 

The company’s long-term maintenance contracts
include indexation clauses to allow for cost escalations.
Labour and material costs are indexed on publicly
available indices, with overhead costs being indexed 
at long-term interest rates.

The company reviews the projected inflows of sales
receipts to determine whether the values of revenue
earned for the reporting period and Contracts in
Progress at Recoverable Value at the reporting date 
are recorded at their fair values. The fair values 
would be calculated by indexing the nominal values 
at the weighted average of the indexation and then
discounting these amounts by the implicit rate of
interest. As the current view of the company is that 
the weighted average of the indexation equates to 
the implicit rate of interest, there is no material
difference between the nominal values and fair values
of the revenue earned and the recoverable values.
Accordingly, the revenue not yet invoiced but earned 
on work completed is recorded at fair value.

OTHER OPERATING REVENUE

Other operating revenue includes interest income on
short term monetary investments recognised on the
accruals basis.

(b) Contracts in Progress at Recoverable Value

The revenue earned on long-term maintenance
contracts includes a portion that will only become
payable after the reporting date. This revenue is carried
forward and shown in the statement of financial
position as contracts in progress at recoverable value.

As described above in the accounting policy on
revenue recognition, contracts in progress at
recoverable value are reviewed and recorded at 
fair value.

(c) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value, except for work in progress which is
valued at recoverable value. The accounting policy in
relation to the valuation of work in progress included 
in inventories has changed since the previous Annual
Report, and this is described in Note 1(t).

(d) Income Tax

Tax effect accounting principles have been adopted
whereby income tax expense is calculated on pre-tax
accounting profits after adjustment for permanent
differences. The tax effect of timing differences, which
occur when items are included or allowed for income
tax purposes in a period different to that for accounting,
is shown at applicable taxation rates in provision for
deferred income tax and future income tax benefit, 
as applicable.



(e) Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and
equipment, including freehold buildings but excluding
land. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line 
basis so as to write off the net cost of each asset 
over its expected useful life. Leasehold improvements
are depreciated over the period of the lease or
estimated useful life, whichever is shorter, using the
straight-line method.

The following estimated lives are used in the
calculation of depreciation:

Buildings 20 – 30 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years
Plant and equipment 5 – 15 years
Equipment under finance lease 5 years

(f) Foreign Currency

All foreign currency transactions during the financial
year have been brought to account using the exchange
rate in effect at the date of the transaction. Foreign
currency monetary items at reporting date are
translated at the exchange rate existing at that date.

All exchange differences are brought to account in 
the statement of financial performance in the period in
which they arise.

Exchange differences relating to foreign currency
monetary items forming part of the net investment in 
a self-sustaining foreign operation are taken directly 
to the foreign currency translation reserve.

Financial statements of self-sustaining foreign
controlled entities are translated at reporting date using
the current rate method and exchange differences are
brought to account by entries made directly to the
foreign currency translation reserve.

(g) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared by combining the financial statements of all
the entities that comprise the economic entity, being 
the company (the parent entity) and its controlled
entities as defined in accounting standard AASB1024
“Consolidated Accounts”. A list of controlled entities
appears in Note 37 to the financial statements.
Consistent accounting policies have been employed in
the preparation and presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements include the
information and results of each controlled entity from
the date on which the company obtains control and
until such time as the company ceases to control 
such entity.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
all intercompany balances and transactions, and
unrealised profits arising within the economic entity 
are eliminated in full.

(h) Receivables

Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded
at amounts due less any allowance for doubtful debts.

(i) Employee Benefits

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees 
in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and 
long service leave, when it is probable that settlement
will be required and they are capable of being
measured reliably.

Provisions made in respect of wages and salaries,
annual leave, long service leave and other employee
benefits, expected to be settled within 12 months, are
measured at their nominal values.

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits, which
are not expected to be settled within 12 months, are
measured as the present value of the estimated future
cash outflows to be made by the consolidated entity in
respect of services provided by employees up to the
reporting date.

(j) Leased Assets

Leased assets classified as finance leases are
capitalised as assets. The amount initially brought 
to account is the present value of minimum 
lease payments.

A finance lease is one which effectively transfers from
the lessor to the lessee substantially all the risks and
benefits incidental to ownership of the leased property.

Capitalised leased assets are amortised on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset.

Finance lease payments are allocated between interest
expense and the reduction of lease liability over the
term of the lease. The interest expense is determined by
applying the interest rate implicit in the lease to the
outstanding lease liability at the beginning of each
lease payment period.

Operating lease payments are charged as an expense
in the period in which they are incurred. 

(k) Recoverable Amount of Non-current Assets

Non-current assets are written down to recoverable
amount where the carrying value of any non-current
asset exceeds recoverable amount. In determining 
the recoverable amount of non-current assets, the
expected net cash flows have not been discounted to
their present value.

(l) Investments

Investments in wholly owned controlled entities are
recorded at the lower of cost or recoverable value
determined by reference to the net tangible assets 
of the relevant wholly owned controlled entity. Other
investments are recorded at cost.
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(m) Accounts Payables

Trade payables and other accounts payable are
recognised when the consolidated entity becomes
obliged to make future payments resulting from the
purchase of goods and services.

(n) Interest bearing Liabilities

Bills of exchange are recorded at an amount equal 
to the net proceeds received, with the premium or
discount amortised over the period until maturity.
Interest expense is recognised on an effective 
yield basis.

Bank loans and other loans are recorded at an amount
equal to the net proceeds received. Interest expense is
recognised on an accrual basis.

(o) Financial Instruments Issued by the Company

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangement.

Interest and dividends are classified as expenses or as
distributions of profit consistent with the statement of
financial position classification of the related debt or
equity instruments.

(p) Acquisition of Assets

Assets acquired are recorded at the cost of 
acquisition, being the purchase consideration
determined as at the date of acquisition plus costs
incidental to the acquisition.

(q) Goodwill

Goodwill, representing the excess of the cost of the
acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired, is amortised on a straight-line basis
over a period of 20 years.

(r) Goods and Services Tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised 
net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST)
except:

(i) where the amount of GST incurred is not
recoverable from the taxation authority, it is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an
asset or part of an item of expense; or

(ii) for receivables and payables which are recognised
inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to,
the taxation authority is included as part of receivables
or payables.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows
on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows
arising from investing and financing activities which is
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority 
is classified as operating cash flows.

(s) Capital Gains Tax

No provision has been made for capital gains tax which
may arise in the event of sale of revalued assets as no
decision has been made to sell any of these assets.

(t) Changes in Accounting Policies

The accounting policy in relation to the valuation of
work in progress has changed since the last Annual
Report. In prior financial years, the work in progress
was valued at cost, including an appropriate portion 
of fixed and variable overheads, and was shown as
inventory. With improvements in our computerised
contract administration system allowing earlier reliable
estimation of individual contract outcomes, revenue is
recognised at an earlier stage. As a result work in
progress now includes the cost plus the individual
contract margin earned to date, based on the
percentage of completion and the expected contract
margin. The impact of this change in accounting 
policy, by revaluing the work in progress at 1 April 2002,
is a profit after tax of $412,000.



Consolidated Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2. PROFIT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

Profit from ordinary activities before 
income tax includes the following items 
of revenue and expenses:

(a) Operating Revenue

Sales Revenue

Rendering of Services:

Invoiced 166,402 144,587 112,258 97,629 

Not Yet Invoiced

–  Increase in amounts recoverable 5,975 13,151 2,004 9,098 

–  Work in progress 10,887 – 9,210 –

183,264 157,738 123,472 106,727

Interest revenue

–  Wholly owned controlled entities – – 17 52 

–  Other entities 88 52 75 35 

88 52 92 87

Dividends

–  Other entities – 3 – 3 

Net foreign exchange gain – 11 – 11 

Other Income 481 304 222 215 

Total Operating Revenue 183,833 158,108 123,786 107,043 

(b) Non-operating Revenue

Proceeds from sale of assets

Non-current (Note 3)

–  Investments – 63 – 63 

–  Property, plant and equipment 1,280 1,110 620 697 

1,280 1,173 620 760 

Reversal of prior period 
recoverable value write-down

–  Investments – – 189 23 

Net transfers from provisions

–  Employee benefits – 42 – – 

Total Non-operating Revenue 1,280 1,215 809 783 

Revenue From Ordinary Activities 185,113 159,323 124,595 107,826 
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2. PROFIT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES continued

Consolidated Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(c) Expenses

Borrowing costs

Interest:

–  Other entities 2,323 2,328 1,642 1,581 

Finance lease finance charges 909 945 508 562 

3,232 3,273 2,150 2,143 

Net bad and doubtful debts arising from:

–  Other entities 155 366 85 298 

Depreciation of non-current assets

–  Property, plant and equipment 6,403 6,361 3,850 3,632

Amortisation of non-current assets

–  Lease assets 71 12 67 67

–  Goodwill 144 139 – –

215 151 67 67

Net transfers to provisions

–  Employee benefits 735 620 621 620

Operating lease rental expense

–  Minimum lease payments 1,375 1,060 547 521 

3. SALE OF ASSETS

Sales of assets in the ordinary course of 
business have given rise to the following 
profits and losses:

Net Profits

Investments – 40 – 40 

Property, plant and equipment 399 599 296 389 

399 639 296 429 

Net Losses

Property, plant and equipment 157 73 63 12



Consolidated Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

4. INCOME TAX

The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax 
accounting profit reconciles to the income tax 
expense in the financial statements as follows:

Profit from Ordinary Activities 21,049 18,517 13,222 12,222

Income tax expense calculated at 30% 6,315 5,555 3,967 3,667 

Permanent differences:

Amortisation of intangibles 43 42 – –

Non-deductible expenses 269 184 252 167 

Write-back of diminution of investment – – (57) (7)

Effect of different rates of tax 
on overseas income 171 151 – – 

483 377 195 160 

(Over)/Under provision of 
income tax in previous year (68) 98 23 89 

415 475 218 249 

Income tax expense attributable to Operating Profit 6,730 6,030 4,185 3,916 

Legislation to allow groups, comprising a parent entity and its Australian resident wholly owned entities, to elect to
consolidate and be treated as a single entity for income tax purposes was substantially enacted on 21 October 2002. 
This legislation, which includes both mandatory and elective elements, is applicable to the company. The impact of the
mandatory elements of the tax consolidation system on existing deferred tax balances of the economic entity and parent
entity has been reflected in the financial statements.

At the date of this report the directors have not assessed the financial effect, if any, the legislation may have on the
company and the consolidated entity and, accordingly, the directors have not made a decision whether or not to elect to 
be taxed as a single entity. The financial effect of the implementation of the elective elements of the tax consolidation
system on the economic entity has not been recognised in the financial statements.

Consolidated Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

5. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION $ $ $ $

The directors of Programmed Maintenance 
Services Limited during the year were:

Geoffrey Allan Tomlinson

Maxwell John Findlay

Susan Mary Oliver

Brian John Pollock

The aggregate of income paid or payable, 
or otherwise made available, in respect of the 
financial year, to all directors of the company, 
directly or in, by the company or by any directly 
related party 820,158 704,972

The aggregate of income paid or payable, 
or otherwise made available, in respect of the 
financial year, to all directors of each entity in 
the economic entity, directly or indirectly, by the 
entities in which they are directors or by any 
related party 820,158 704,972 
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Consolidated Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

No. No.

5. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION continued

The number of directors of the company whose 
total income falls within each successive $10,000 
band of income (commencing at $60,000):

$60,000 – $69,999 2 2 

$90,000 – $99,999 1 1 

$470,000 – $479,999 – 1

$590,000 – $599,999 1 – 

6. EXECUTIVES’ REMUNERATION $ $ $ $

Aggregate remuneration of executive officers 
of the company (including executive directors) 
working mainly in Australia and receiving 
$100,000 or more from the company or from 
any related party 3,800,188 3,317,536 

Aggregate remuneration of executive officers 
of each entity in the economic entity (including 
executive directors) working mainly in Australia 
and receiving $100,000 or more from the entity 
for which they are executive officers or from 
any related party 3,961,478 3,628,049

The number of executive officers whose 
remuneration falls within each successive 
$10,000 band of income (commencing at $100,000): 

No. No. No. No.

$100,000 – $109,999 – 1 – 1

$120,000 – $129,999 2 1 2 – 

$130,000 – $139,999 1 4 1 4 

$140,000 – $149,999 2 – 2 – 

$150,000 – $159,999 1 1 1 1 

$160,000 – $169,999 3 4 2 4 

$170,000 – $179,999 2 1 2 1 

$180,000 – $189,999 1 2 1 1 

$190,000 – $199,999 1 – 1 – 

$210,000 – $219,999 – 1 – 1 

$220,000 – $229,999 1 – 1 – 

$240,000 – $249,999 1 1 1 1 

$260,000 – $269,999 1 1 1 1 

$280,000 – $289,999 1 – 1 – 

$290,000 – $299,999 – 1 – 1 

$300,000 – $309,999 1 – 1 – 

$470,000 – $479,999 – 1 – 1 

$590,000 – $599,999 1 – 1 – 



7. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The company has a share option scheme for directors and senior executives.

In accordance with the provisions of the scheme, as approved by shareholders’ consent, certain directors, 
senior executives and employees have been offered and accepted options which can be exercised between 
the period 29 September 2001 and 29 September 2006. 

Executive Share Option Plan

2003 2002

No. No.

Balance at beginning of the financial year (i) 1,950,000 1,950,000 

Granted during the financial year (ii) 320,000 – 

Exercised during the financial year (iii) – – 

Lapsed during the financial year (iv) – – 

Balance at end of the financial year (v) 2,270,000 1,950,000 

(i) Balance at beginning of the financial year 2003 Expiry/ Exercise
No. Commencement Exercise Price

Date $

Options – Series

(1) Issued 29 September, 1999 780,000 29.09.01 29.09.03 2.00

(2) Issued 29 September, 1999 585,000 29.09.02 29.09.04 2.00 

(3) Issued 29 September, 1999 585,000 29.09.03 29.09.05 2.00 

1,950,000 

(ii) Granted during the financial year 2003

Options – Series

(1) Issued 8 May, 2002 128,000 29.09.02 29.09.04 2.49 

(1) Issued 8 May, 2002 96,000 29.09.03 29.09.05 2.54 

(1) Issued 8 May, 2002 96,000 29.09.04 29.09.06 2.57 

320,000

(iii) Exercised during the financial year 

No options were exercised during the financial year.

(iv) Lapsed during the financial year 

No options lapsed during the financial year.
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(v) Balance at end of the financial year 2003 Expiry/ Exercise
Vested Unvested Commencement Exercise Price

No. No. No. Date Date $ 

Options – Series

(1) Issued 29 September 1999 780,000 780,000 – 29.09.01 29.09.03 2.00 

(2) Issued 29 September 1999 585,000 585,000 – 29.09.02 29.09.04 2.00 

(3) Issued 29 September 1999 585,000 – 585,000 29.09.03 29.09.05 2.00 

(1) Issued 8 May 2002 128,000 128,000 – 29.09.02 29.09.04 2.49 

(2) Issued 8 May 2002 96,000 0 96,000 29.09.03 29.09.05 2.54 

(3) Issued 8 May 2002 96,000 – 96,000 29.09.04 29.09.06 2.57 

2,270,000 1,493,000 777,000 

Executive share options carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights.
The market price of the company’s ordinary shares at 31 March 2003 was $1.74.

Consolidated Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

8. CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables 35,073 34,141 21,841 21,895 

Allowance for doubtful debts (1,034) (862) (530) (445)

34,039 33,279 21,311 21,450 

Contracts in progress at recoverable value 55,772 52,100 41,259 41,107 

89,811 85,379 62,570 62,557 

9. CURRENT INVENTORIES

At cost:

Raw materials and stores 890 892 675 612 

Finished goods 166 86 166 86 

Work in progress – 1,711 – 1,060 

At recoverable amount:

Work in progress 7,660 – 6,819 – 

8,716 2,689 7,660 1,758 

10. OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

Non-trade receivables from:

Wholly owned controlled entities – – 2,488 2,033

– – 2,488 2,033 
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Consolidated Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

11. CURRENT TAX ASSETS

Income tax receivable 28 533 – 524 

12. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments 3,088 2,309 2,027 1,633 

Other 548 1,202 298 716 

3,636 3,511 2,325 2,349

13. NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Contracts in progress at recoverable value 70,807 64,784 46,584 44,732

14. NON-CURRENT INVENTORIES

At recoverable amount:

Work in progress 5,310 – 4,308 – 

15. OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

At cost:

Shares in controlled entities – – 8,099 8,099 

At recoverable amount:

Shares in controlled entities – – 3,385 3,196 

Non-trade receivables from:

Wholly owned controlled entities – – 400 876 

Related parties – share option scheme 426 426 425 425 

426 426 12,309 12,596 

At cost:

Shares in controlled entities 8,099 8,099 

At recoverable amount:

Shares in controlled entities – – 3,385 3,196 

Non-trade receivables from:

Wholly-owned controlled entities – – 400 876 

Related parties – share option scheme 426 426 425 425 

426 426 12,309 12,596 
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16. PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Consolidated

Freehold Leasehold Equipment
Land and Improvements Plant and Under Finance
Buildings Buildings Equipment Lease
(at cost) (at cost) (at cost) (at cost) Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Gross Carrying Amount

Balance at 1 April 2002 3,149 157 19,047 20,471 42,824 

Additions – 20 2,618 4,331 6,969 

Disposals – – (1,581) (2,713) (4,294)

Transfers – – 1,506 (1,506) – 

Net foreign exchange (11) (4) 1,375 248 1,608 

Balance at 31 March 2003 3,138 173 22,965 20,831 47,107 

Accumulated Depreciation and Amortisation

Balance at 1 April 2002 (284) (85) (12,699) (10,293) (23,361)

Disposals – – 1,355 1,902 3,257 

Depreciation expense (45) (12) (2,726) (3,691) (6,474)

Transfers – – (1,854) 1,854 – 

Net foreign exchange – 2 (1,348) (154) (1,500)

Balance at 31 March 2003 (329) (95) (17,272) (10,382) (28,078)

Net Book Value

As at 31 March 2002 2,865 72 6,348 10,178 19,463

As at 31 March 2003 2,809 78 5,693 10,449 19,029 

Gross Carrying Amount

Balance at 1 April 2002 2,799 46 12,447 11,669 26,961 

Additions – 19 1,132 2,683 3,834 

Disposals – – (972) (1,228) (2,200)

Transfers – – 2,711 (2,711) – 

Balance at 31 March 2003 2,799 65 15,318 10,413 28,595 

Accumulated Depreciation and Amortisation

Balance at 1 April 2002 (273) (17) (9,298) (5,971) (15,559)

Disposals – – 889 924 1,813 

Depreciation expense (36) (5) (1,618) (2,258) (3,917)

Transfers – – (2,506) 2,506 – 

Balance at 31 March 2003 (309) (22) (12,533) (4,799) (17,663)

Net Book Value

As at 31 March 2002 2,526 29 3,149 5,698 11,402 

As at 31 March 2003 2,490 43 2,785 5,614 10,932
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16. PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

Consolidated Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Aggregated depreciation allocated, whether 
recognised as an expense or capitalised as 
part of the carrying amount of other assets 
during the year:

Freehold land and buildings 45 27 36 18 

Leasehold improvements 12 18 5 7 

Plant and equipment 2,726 2,287 1,618 1,346 

Equipment under finance lease 3,691 4,041 2,258 2,328 

6,474 6,373 3,917 3,699 

CURRENT VALUE OF FREEHOLD LAND AND BUILDINGS

Value of freehold land and buildings determined in 
accordance with independent valuations on the basis 
of current market buying values, performed in 2002. 4,144 4,144 3,805 3,805

17. INTANGIBLES

Goodwill 2,870 2,774 – – 

Accumulated amortisation (391) (247) – – 

2,479 2,527 – – 

Aggregated amortisation allocated, whether 
recognised as an expense or capitalised as part 
of the carrying amount of other assets during 
the year of patents, trademarks and licences 144 139 – – 

18. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Future income tax benefits attributable to: 

Timing differences 2,902 2,205 2,492 1,938 

19. CONTRACTS IN PROGRESS AT RECOVERABLE VALUE

Balance at beginning of year 116,884 104,207 85,839 76,741 

Increase in amounts recoverable (Note 2) 5,975 13,151 2,004 9,098 

Effect of foreign currency movements 3,720 (474) – –

Balance at end of year 126,579 116,884 87,843 85,839 

Shown in the financial statements as: 

Current (Note 8) 55,772 52,100 41,259 41,107 

Non-current (Note13) 70,807 64,784 46,584 44,732 

126,579 116,884 87,843 85,839 

20. CURRENT PAYABLES

Trade payables 5,740 5,837 3,460 4,010 

Accruals and Sundry Creditors 11,396 6,344 7,839 3,399 

17,136 12,181 11,299 7,409 
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Consolidated Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

21. CURRENT INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Unsecured:

Non-trade payables to: 

Other loans 27 636 1 – 

Secured: 

Bank overdraft (a) 1,257 1,454 588 812 

Finance lease liabilities (b) (Note 31) 4,697 4,292 2,635 2,584 

5,954 5,746 3,223 3,396 

5,981 6,382 3,224 3,396

(a) The Westpac Banking Corporation holds a registered first party Equitable Mortgage over the assets of Programmed
Maintenance Services Limited, Barry Bros. Specialised Services Pty. Limited and Programmed Maintenance Services
(N.Z.) Limited as security for advances made and/or guarantees given by the Bank. 

(b) Effectively secured over the related assets, the current value of which exceeds the value of the finance lease liabilities. 

22. CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES

Income tax payable 424 1,045 276 – 

23. CURRENT PROVISIONS

Dividends 3,357 2,580 3,357 2,580 

Employee benefits (Note 27) 4,638 4,025 4,068 3,602 

Other 19 – – –

8,014 6,605 7,425 6,182 

24. NON-CURRENT INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Secured:

Bank loans (a) 37,489 42,067 27,400 31,722 

Finance lease liabilities (b) (Note 31) 6,402 7,344 4,394 4,804

43,891 49,411 31,794 36,526 

(a) The Westpac Banking Corporation holds a registered first party Equitable Mortgage over the assets of Programmed
Maintenance Services Limited, Barry Bros. Specialised Services Pty. Limited and Programmed Maintenance Services
(N.Z.) Limited as security for advances made and/or guarantees given by the Bank.

The Westpac Banking Corporation holds a charge over the assets of Programmed Maintenance Services (UK) Limited
as security for loans made by the Bank.

(b) Effectively secured over the related assets, the current value of which exceeds the value of the finance lease liabilities.
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Consolidated Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred income tax 41,994 35,720 30,108 26,739 

26. NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS

Employee benefits (Note 27) 454 321 413 258 

Related parties – share option scheme 425 425 425 425 

879 746 838 683 

27. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The aggregate employee benefit liability 
recognised and included in the financial 
financial statements is as follows:

Provision for employee benefits:

Current (Note 23) 4,638 4,025 4,068 3,602 

Non-current (Note 26) 454 321 413 258 

5,092 4,346 4,481 3,860 

Number of employees at end 
of financial year 1,230 1,147 822 776

28. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

67,141,771 fully paid ordinary shares 17,406 12,201 17,406 12,201 

(2002: 64,500,000)

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote 
per share and carry the right to dividends.

2003 2002

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares No.’000 $’000 No.’000 $’000 

Balance at beginning of financial year 64,500 12,201 64,500 12,201

Issue of shares under dividend reinvestment plan 1,605 3,187 – –

Issue of new shares 1,037 2,018 – –

67,142 17,406 64,500 12,201 
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

for the financial year ended 31 March 2003

Consolidated Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

29. RESERVES

Foreign currency translation 2,408 (27) – – 

Capital profits reserve 5,535 5,535 5,535 5,535 

7,943 5,508 5,535 5,535 

Foreign currency translation reserve

Balance at beginning of financial year (27) 52 – – 

Translation of foreign operations 2,435 (79) – – 

Balance at end of financial year 2,408 (27) – – 

Exchange differences relating to foreign currency monetary items forming part of the net investment in self-sustaining
foreign operations and the translation of self-sustaining foreign controlled entities are brought to account by entries made
directly to the foreign currency translation reserve, as described in Note 1(f). 

Capital profits reserve

Balance at beginning of financial year 5,535 – 5,535 – 

Transfer from asset revaluation reserve – 5,535 – 5,535 

Balance at end of financial year 5,535 5,535 5,535 5,535 

The capital profits reserve relates to profits realised on the sale of non-current assets.

30. RETAINED PROFITS

Balance at beginning of financial year 54,061 46,734 43,545 40,399 

Net profit 14,319 12,487 9,037 8,306 

Dividends provided or paid (5,984) (5,160) (5,984) (5,160)

Balance at end of financial year 62,396 54,061 46,598 43,545 
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

for the financial year ended 31 March 2003

Consolidated Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

31. LEASE LIABILITIES

Finance lease liabilities:

No later than 1 year 5,171 4,699 3,006 2,991 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 6,759 7,581 4,673 5,040 

Minimum lease payments 11,930 12,280 7,679 8,031 

Less future finance charges (831) (644) (650) (643)

Present value of minimum lease payments 11,099 11,636 7,029 7,388 

Included in the financial statements as:
Current interest-bearing liabilities (Note 21) 4,697 4,292 2,635 2,584 

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities (Note 24) 6,402 7,344 4,394 4,804 

11,099 11,636 7,029 7,388 

The hire purchase and finance lease arrangements are generally made for a three year period and are secured by a charge
over the related assets. The consolidated entity and the company have the option to purchase the related assets at the
conclusion of the finance leases.

32. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

(a) Capital expenditure commitments

Plant and equipment
Not longer than 1 year 503 682 388 642 

(b) Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases

Not longer than 1 year 1,184 870 435 407 

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 1,027 996 224 496 

2,211 1,866 659 903 

2,714 2,548 1,047 1,545 

The operating leases relate to office and warehouse facilities with lease terms not exceeding five years. Most of the leases
have options to extend for further periods of similar duration, with market review clauses in the event that the consolidated
entity and the company exercise the options to renew. The consolidated entity and the company do not have the option to
purchase the related assets at the expiry of the lease period.

(c) Finance lease liabilities are disclosed in Note 31 to the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

for the financial year ended 31 March 2003

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Significant accounting policies

Details of significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of
measurement and the basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, in respect of each significant class 
of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements.

(b) Interest rate risk

The following tables detail the economic entity’s exposure to interest rate risk as at 31 March 2003.

Fixed Interest Rate Maturity

Average Variable Less More Non-
Interest Interest than 1 than 5 Interest-

2003 Rate Rate Year 1 to 5 Years Years bearing Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets

Cash 4.51 2,876 – – – 44 2,920 

Trade receivables – – – – 34,039 34,039 

Contracts in progress
at recoverable value – – – – 126,579 126,579 

Work-in-progress – – – – 12,969 12,969 

Other receivables – – – – 974 974 

2,876 – – – 174,605 177,481 

Financial Liabilities

Trade Payables – – – – 17,136 17,136 

Bank Overdraft 7.90 1,257 – – – – 1,257 

Bank Bills 5.14 – 32,922 – – – 32,922 

Bank Loan 5.10 – 4,567 – – – 4,567 

Finance Lease Liabilities 7.35 – 4,697 6,402 – – 11,099 

Provisions – – – – 425 425 

Employee Entitlements – – – – 5,092 5,092 

Dividend – – – – 3,357 3,357 

Other 4.00 – – – – 27 27 

1,257 42,186 6,402 – 26,037 75,882 
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

for the financial year ended 31 March 2003

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

The following tables detail the economic entity’s exposure to interest rate risk as at 31 March 2002.

Fixed Interest Rate Maturity

Average Variable Less More Non-
Interest Interest than  1 than 5 Interest-

2002 Rate Rate Year 1 to 5 Years Years bearing Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets

Cash 4.57 2,300 – – – 43 2,343 

Trade receivables – – – – 33,279 33,279 

Contracts in progress
at recoverable value – – – – 116,884 116,884 

Work-in-progress 1,711 1,711 

Other receivables – – – – 1,444 1,444 

2,300 – – – 153,361 155,661 

Financial Liabilities

Trade Payables – – – – 12,181 12,181 

Bank Overdraft 8.20 1,454 – – – – 1,454 

Bank Bills 4.88 – 38,047 – – – 38,047 

Bank Loan 7.75 – 4,020 – – – 4,020 

Provisions 425 425 

Finance Lease Liabilities 7.89 – 4,292 7,344 – – 11,636 

Employee Entitlements – – – – 4,346 4,346 

Dividend – – – – 2,580 2,580 

Other 4.00 636 – – – 636 

1,454 46,995 7,344 – 19,532 75,325 

(c) Net fair value

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements approximates their
respective net fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in Note 1 of the financial
statements.

(d) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a company will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
consolidated entity. The consolidated entity has adopted the policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and
obtaining sufficient collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss
from defaults. The consolidated entity measures credit risk on a fair basis. The consolidated entity does not have any
significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics.
The total credit risk is the carrying amount of the financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any
provisions for losses, before any value for collateral or other security held.
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Consolidated Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

$ $ $ $

34. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

(a) Auditor of parent entity

Auditing the financial report 151,340 185,350 125,740 150,750 

Other services 23,269 38,810 16,669 38,810 

174,609 224,160 142,409 189,560 

(b) Other Auditors

Auditing the financial report 78,148 72,888 – – 

Other services 30,332 5,264 – – 

108,480 78,152 – – 

283,089 302,312 142,409 189,560 

35. NOTES TO STATEMENT OF  CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of Cash

Cash 2,920 2,343 2,835 2,327 

Bank overdraft (1,257) (1,454) (588) (812)

1,663 889 2,247 1,515 

(b) Financing facilities

1. Credit standby arrangements

(a) Secured bill acceptance facilities with various 
maturity dates, expiring September 2004.

–  Amount used 37,120 41,643 27,400 31,722 

–  Amount unused 6,094 278 4,600 278 

43,214 41,921 32,000 32,000 

(b) Secured bank overdraft facilities with 
various maturity dates up to September 2004, 
payable at call.

–  Amount used 1,257 1,454 588 812 

–  Amount unused 2,298 2,005 412 188 

3,555 3,459 1,000 1,000

2. Bank guarantee loan facilities

–  Amount used 703 748 627 655 

–  Amount unused 127 52 153 95 

830 800 780 750
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for the financial year ended 31 March 2003

35. NOTES TO STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS continued

Consolidated Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(c) Reconciliation of Profit from Ordinary Activities 
after Related Income Tax to Net Cash Flows 
from Operating Activities

Profit from ordinary activities after related income tax 14,319 12,487 9,037 8,306 

Write-back of investment in subsidiary company – – (189) (23)

Profit on sale of non-current assets (242) (566) (233) (415)

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 6,618 6,512 3,917 3,699 

(Increase)/Decrease in current tax assets 505 – 524 – 

Increase/(Decrease) in current tax liability (679) 31 276 – 

Increase/(Decrease) in deferred tax balances 4,474 4,036 2,815 2,528 

Changes in net assets and liabilities, net of effects 
from acquisition and disposal of businesses:

(Increase)/Decrease in assets:

current receivables (1,837) (9,107) (13) (6,529)

current inventories (11,818) 164 (10,210) (35)

other current assets 87 (127) 23 99 

non-current receivables (4,426) (8,612) (1,852) (5,143)

Increase/(Decrease) in liabilities

current payables 5,181 86 3,890 2 

current provisions 569 – 466 – 

other current liabilities 45 161 – 367 

non-current trade payables – – – – 

non-current provisions 134 (138) 155 (2)

Net Cash provided by Operating Activities 12,930 4,927 8,606 2,854 

(d) Non-cash financing and investing activities

Aggregate amount of property, plant and equipment 
acquired during the financial year by entering into 
hire purchase agreements and finance leases. 
These acquisitions are not reflected in the statement 
of cash flows 3,112 3,371 2,184 2,405
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2003 2002

Cents per Share Cents per Share

36. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share 21.8 19.4 

Diluted earnings per share 21.8 19.3 

Basic Earnings per Share

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares 
used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as follows:

2003 2002

$’000 $’000

Earnings 14,319 12,487 

2003 2002

No. ‘000 No. ‘000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 65,624 64,500 

The share options are considered to be potential ordinary shares and are therefore excluded from the weighted average
number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share. These securities have been included in the
determination of diluted earnings per share on the basis that each share option will convert to one ordinary share.

Diluted Earnings per Share

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary and potential 
ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share are as follows:

2003 2002

$’000 $’000

Earnings 14,319 12,487 

2003 2002

No. ‘000 No. ‘000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
and potential ordinary shares 65,740 64,692 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares in the calculation of diluted earnings per share
reconciles to the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share as
follows:

2003 2002

No. ‘000 No. ‘000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
used in the calculation of basic EPS 65,624 64,500 

Employee options 116 192 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential 
ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted EPS 65,740 64,692 
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for the financial year ended 31 March 2003

37. CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Name of Entity Country of Incorporation Ownership Interest

2003 2002

% %

Parent Entity

Programmed Maintenance Services Limited Australia

Controlled Entities

Barry Bros. Specialised Services Pty. Limited Australia 100 100 

Programmed Maintenance Services (N.Z.) Limited (a) New Zealand 100 100 

PMS Share Schemes Administration Pty Ltd. Australia 100 100 

PMS Building Services Pty. Ltd. Australia 100 0 

Programmed Maintenance Services (UK) Limited (b) United Kingdom 100 100 

Whittle Painting Group Limited (b) United Kingdom 100 100 

Whittle Painting Northern Limited (b) United Kingdom 100 100 

Whittle Painting Nottingham Limited (b) United Kingdom 100 100 

Bonds Painting Limited (b) United Kingdom 100 100 

Brian Parry Limited (b) United Kingdom 100 100 

(a) The controlled entity carries on business in New Zealand and is audited by an associated firm of 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Australia.

(b) These controlled entities carry on business in the United Kingdom and are audited by associated firms of 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Australia.

38. ACQUISITION OF CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Proportion
Date of of Shares Cost of

Name of Entity Acquired Principal Activity Acquisition Acquired Acquisition

PMS Building Services Pty. Ltd. Property maintenance services 27/6/02 100% 0 
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39. FINANCIAL REPORTING BY SEGMENTS

Segment Revenues

External Sales

Property Maintenance Industrial Services Other Total

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Australia 123,397 106,728 16,655 14,410 1,137 1,367 141,189 122,505 

New Zealand 25,317 20,280 – – 685 83 26,002 20,363 

United Kingdom 17,808 16,319 – – 27 84 17,835 16,403 

Total of all segments 185,026 159,271

Unallocated 87 52 

Consolidated 185,113 159,323 

Segment Results

Property Maintenance Industrial Services Total

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Australia 14,110 13,606 280 308 14,390 13,914 

New Zealand 7,953 6,504 – – 7,953 6,504 

United Kingdom 676 636 – – 676 636 

Total of all segments 23,019 21,054 

Unallocated 1,262 736 

Profit from ordinary activities before 
interest and income tax expense 24,281 21,790

Net borrowing and financing charges (3,232) (3,273)

Profit from ordinary activities before 
income tax expense 21,049 18,517

Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities (6,730) (6,030)

Profit from ordinary activities after
income tax expense 14,319 12,487

Segment Assets

Assets

Property Maintenance
Services Industrial Services Total

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Australia 134,824 137,627 10,297 4,645 145,121 142,272

New Zealand 45,419 28,600 – – 45,419 28,600 

United Kingdom 9,778 8,123 – – 9,778 8,123 

Total of all segments 200,318 178,995 

Unallocated 5,746 4,865 

Consolidated 206,064 183,860 
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39. FINANCIAL REPORTING BY SEGMENTS continued

Segment Liabilities

Liabilities

Property Maintenance
Services Industrial Services Total

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Australia 16,275 12,048 2,265 1,362 18,540 13,410 

New Zealand 2,756 1,836 – – 2,756 1,836 

United Kingdom 2,141 3,337 – – 2,141 3,337 

Total of all segments 23,437 18,583 

Unallocated 94,882 93,507 

Consolidated 118,319 112,090 

Other Segment Information

Property Maintenance Industrial Services Total

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Acquisition of segment assets

Australia 1,650 4,460 1,982 1,869 3,632 6,329 

New Zealand 143 290 – – 143 290 

United Kingdom 82 407 – – 82 407 

3,857 7,026 

Depreciation and amortisation of segment assets

Australia 3,232 2,800 1,780 1,760 5,012 4,560 

New Zealand 411 575 – – 411 575 

United Kingdom 510 327 – – 510 327 

5,933 5,462

Other non-cash expenses

Australia 705 918 50 (39) 755 879 

New Zealand 97 64 – – 97 64 

United Kingdom 33 – – – 33 – 

885 943 

The consolidated entity operates in three principal geographic locations – Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom.
The composition of each geographical segment is as follows:

Australia –  Property maintenance services includes painting, grounds maintenance and building services

–  Industrial services includes sewerage and drainage maintenance, vacuum loading, 
high pressure cleaning and non-destructive digging

New Zealand –  Property maintenance services – painting

United Kingdom –  Property maintenance services – painting
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40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a) Other transactions of directors

During the financial year, directors and their director-related entities purchased goods, which were domestic or 
trivial in nature, from the company on the same terms and conditions available to other employees and customers.

(b) Transactions with entities in the wholly owned group

The wholly owned group includes:

–  the ultimate Parent Entity in the wholly owned group

–  wholly owned controlled entities.

The ultimate parent entity in the wholly owned group is Programmed Maintenance Services Limited. Details of interest
revenue derived by the parent entity from wholly owned controlled entities are disclosed in Note 2 to the financial
statements. Details of interest expense in respect of transactions with wholly owned controlled entities are disclosed in
Note 2 to the financial statements.

Amounts receivable from and payable to wholly owned controlled entities are disclosed in Notes 10 and 15 to the 
financial statements.

Other transactions that occurred during the financial year between entities in the wholly owned group were:

–  accounting and administrative services

–  management fees

–  reimbursement for expenses incurred.

(c) Directors’ remuneration

Details of directors’ remuneration are disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements.

(d) Directors’ equity holdings

The following table sets out each director’s relevant interest in shares and options in the company at 31 March 2003.

Directors Fully Paid Ordinary Shares Share Options

G. A. Tomlinson 100,000 60,000

M. J. Findlay 1,000,000 250,000

S. M. Oliver *2,400 50,000

B. J. Pollock – 50,000

* Beneficial interest.

(e) Equity interests in controlled entities

Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in the controlled entities are disclosed in Note 37 to the 
financial statements.

(f) Transactions with other related parties

Other related parties include directors of related parties, their director-related entities and other related parties.

Details of interest expense in respect of transactions with other related parties are disclosed in Note 2 to the 
financial statements.

Amounts receivable from related parties are disclosed in Note 15 to the financial statements. Related party provisions are
disclosed in Note 26 to the financial statements.
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41. DIVIDENDS

2003 2002

Cents per Share Total Cents per Share Total

$’000 $’000

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

Interim Dividend

–  Franked to 30% at 30%  tax rate 4.0 2,627 –  – 

–  Unfranked – – 4.0 2,580 

Final Dividend

–  Franked to 50% at 30%  tax rate 5.0 3,357

–  Unfranked – – 4.0 2,580 

5,984 5,160

Company

2003 2002

$’000 $’000

Adjusted Franking Account Balance 805 0 

42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Guarantee by the company of bank overdrafts – – 2,500 2,500 

Guarantee by the company of lease liabilities – – 2,954 2,970 

Bank guarantee loan facility – – 748 732 

The company has provided performance and security guarantees to its bankers 
in accordance with certain contractual requirements (Refer Notes 21 and 24).

As previously advised, an industrial accident involving a fatality occurred during the previous financial year. The WorkCover
Authority of New South Wales commenced prosecution against the company in the Industrial Court of New South Wales.
This action was withdrawn by the WorkCover Authority of New South Wales and the Industrial Court of New South Wales
awarded third-party costs to the company.

The directors are not aware of any other contingent liabilities.

43. ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITY

In accordance with the security arrangements of liabilities, as disclosed in Notes 21 and 24 to the financial statements,
effectively all assets of the economic entity have been pledged as security, except goodwill and future income tax benefits.

44. ADDITIONAL COMPANY INFORMATION

Programmed Maintenance Services Limited is a listed public company, incorporated and operating in Australia, 
New Zealand and the United Kingdom.

Principal Registered Office: 52 Ricketts Road, Mount Waverley, Victoria 3149
Telephone: (03) 9562 8033

Principal Place of Business: 52 Ricketts Road, Mount Waverley, Victoria 3149
Telephone: (03) 9562 8033
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Directors’ Declaration

The directors declare that:

(a) the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with Accounting Standards;

(b) the attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the financial position 
and performance of the company and the consolidated entity;

(c) in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001; and

(d) in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

M. J. Findlay
Director

4 June 2003
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Independent Audit Report

Independent Audit Report to the Members of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited

Scope

We have audited the financial report of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited for the financial year ended 
31 March 2003 as set out on pages 23 to 51. The financial report includes the consolidated financial statements of the
consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during 
the financial year. The company’s directors are responsible for the financial report. We have conducted an independent
audit of the financial report in order to express an opinion on it to the members of the company.

Our audit has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards to provide reasonable assurance 
whether the financial report is free of material misstatement. Our procedures included examination, on a test basis, of
evidence supporting the amounts and other disclosures in the financial report, and the evaluation of accounting policies
and significant accounting estimates. These procedures have been undertaken to form an opinion whether, in all material
respects, the financial report is presented fairly in accordance with Accounting Standards issued in Australia and other
mandatory professional reporting requirements and statutory requirements so as to present a view which is consistent 
with our understanding of the company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position, and performance as represented
by the results of their operations and their cash flows.

The audit opinion expressed in this report has been formed on the above basis.

Audit Opinion

In our opinion, the financial report of Programmed Maintenance Services Limited is in accordance with:

(a) the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 March 2003 
and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

J B West
Partner
Chartered Accountants

Melbourne, 4 June 2003

The liability of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu is limited by, and to the extent of, the Accountants’ Scheme under the Professional Standards Act 1994 (NSW).
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Additional Stock Exchange Information
as at 28 May 2003

Number of Holders of Equity Securities

Ordinary Share Capital

67,141,771 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 2,375 individual shareholders. All ordinary shares of the company carry 
one vote per share.

Options

2,270,000 options are held by 32 individual option holders (no voting rights)

Substantial Shareholders

Ordinary Shareholders Number of Ordinary Shares Percentage

Commonwealth Bank of Australia and associates 11,527,486 17.17%
Portfolio Partners Limited 8,367,088 12.46%
Invesco Australia Investment Management Limited 6,055,652 9.02%
Deutsche Bank Group and associates 4,928,342 7.34%
Westpac Banking Corporation and associates 4,880,736 7.27%
Warakirri Asset Management Limited 4,157,610 6.19%
ING Australia Holdings Limited and associates 3,964,792 5.91%

Distribution of Holders of Quoted Equity Securities (Ordinary Shares – fully paid)

Range No. of Holders

1 – 1,000 675
1,001 – 5,000 1,061
5,001 – 10,000 385

10,001 – 100,000 216
100,001 – over 38

2,375

Number of holdings less than a marketable parcel:  0

The 20 Largest Holders of Quoted Equity Securities (Ordinary Shares – fully paid) 

Name No. of Shares Percentages

J.P. Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 14,804,429 22.05%
National Nominees Limited 12,773,805 19.03%
Citicorp Nominees Pty. Limited – (CFS Future Leaders Fund A/c) 7,004,319 10.43%
Commonwealth Custodial Services Ltd. 2,532,797 3.77%
RBC Global Services Australia Nominees Pty. Limited – (RA A/c) 2,028,871 3.02%
Citicorp Nominees Pty. Limited – (CFS Future Leaders Fund A/c) 1,825,000 2.72%
Australian Foundation Investment Co. Ltd. 1,362,543 2.03%
RBC Global Services Australia Nominees Pty. Limited – (PP A/c) 1,232,375 1.84%
Mirrabooka Investments Limited 1,157,062 1.72%
Citicorp Nominees Pty. Limited 1,151,712 1.72%
Maxwell John Findlay 1,000,000 1.49%
Questor Financial Services Limited 727,369 1.08%
ANZ Nominees Limited 688,314 1.03%
Victorian Workcover Authority 654,036 0.97%
Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 597,696 0.89%
Benefund Limited 588,585 0.88%
Argo Investments Limited 575,596 0.86%
Government Superannuation Office 543,500 0.81%
Citicorp Nominees Pty. Limited – (CISL PET ONE A/c) 374,545 0.56%
Queensland Investment Corporation 341,929 0.51%

Top 20 Shareholders 51,964,483 77.41%
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PMS Branch Network

Telephone Facsimile

Group Head Office

52 Ricketts Road, Mount Waverley 3149 (03) 9562 8033 (03) 9562 8413

Painting Division Principal Offices

Victoria 26-30 Gilby Road, Mount Waverley 3149 (03) 9544 5777 (03) 9543 8075

Tasmania 8 Pearl Street, Moonah 7009 (03) 6272 3033 (03) 6273 1402

New South Wales Unit C, 255 Rawson Street, Auburn 2144 (02) 9748 7088 (02) 9748 7151

South Australia 604 Port Road, Allenby Gardens 5009 (08) 8346 9944 (08) 8346 7455

ACT Unit 2, 180 Gladstone Street, Fyshwick 2609 (02) 6280 5677 (02) 6280 7146

Queensland 16 Shoebury Street, Rocklea 4106 (07) 3892 1622 (07) 3892 3159

Western Australia 107 Kew Street, Welshpool 6106 (08) 9361 8322 (08) 9470 2379

Northern Territory Unit 2, Lot 4 Roni Court, Winnellie 0820 (08) 8947 0192 (08) 8947 0505

New Zealand 44 Greenpark Road, Penrose, Auckland (649) 571 0610 (649) 575 0727
5 Prosser Street, Elsdon, Porirua, Wellington (644) 237 4810 (644) 237 8997
Unit 2/492 Moorhouse Avenue, Christchurch (643) 365 2357 (643) 365 2379

United Kingdom Daybrook House, Merchange Street, Bulwell, (01159) 770 311 (01159) 771 472
Nottingham N6G 8GT

Grounds Management Division State Offices

Victoria 26-30 Gilby Road, Mount Waverley  3149 (03) 9544 5777 (03) 9538 1172

New South Wales Unit C, 255 Rawson Street, Auburn 2144 (02) 9748 7088 (02) 9748 7151

South Australia 15A Richard Street, Hindmarsh 5007 (08) 8340 3488 (08) 8340 8405

Western Australia 107 Kew Street, Welshpool 6106 (08) 9361 8322 (08) 9470 2379

Building Services Division State Offices

Victoria 26-30 Gilby Road, Mount Waverley  3149 (03) 9544 5777 (03) 9538 1172

New South Wales Unit C, 255 Rawson Street, Auburn 2144 (02) 9748 7088 (02) 9748 7151

South Australia 1 Susan Street, Hindmarsh 5007 (08) 8241 7505 (08) 8241 7791

Queensland 16 Shoebury Street, Rocklea 4106 (07) 3892 1622 (07) 3892 3159

Western Australia 107 Kew Street, Welshpool 6106 (08) 9361 8322 (08) 9470 2379

Corporate Imaging State Offices

Victoria 26-30 Gilby Road, Mount Waverley  3149 (03) 9544 5777 (03) 9538 1172

New South Wales Unit C, 255 Rawson Road, Auburn 2144 (02) 9748 7122 (02) 9748 7151

Queensland Suite 21B, Plaza Chambers (07) 3290 0799 (07) 3290 0638
3-15 Dennis Street, Springwood 4127

South Australia 604 Port Road, Allenby Gardens 5009 (08) 8346 9944 (08) 8346 7455

Barry Bros. Specialised Services State Offices

Head Office 10-16 Geddes Street, Mount Waverley 3170 (03) 9734 7722 (03) 9562 2999

Victoria 10-16 Geddes Street, Mount Waverley 3170 (03) 9734 7722 (03) 9562 2999

New South Wales 31 Shepherd Street, Liverpool 2170 (02) 9734 7722 (02) 9734 6590

Queensland 5/12 Bimbil Street, Albion 4010 (07) 3256 1866 (07) 3256 0734



Board of Directors

G. A. Tomlinson, Chairman
M. J. Findlay, Managing Director
S. M. Oliver
B. J. Pollock

Secretary

I. H. Jones

Auditors

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
505 Bourke Street
Melbourne  3000

Solicitors

Gadens Lawyers
333 Collins Street
Melbourne  3000

Middletons Lawyers
200 Queen Street
Melbourne 3000

Banker

Westpac Banking Corporation
360 Collins Street
Melbourne  3000

Registered Office

52 Ricketts Road
Mount Waverley  3149
Telephone  (03) 9562 8033
Facsimile  (03) 9562 8413

Share Register

Computershare Investor 
Services Pty. Limited
Level 12
565 Bourke Street
Melbourne  3000
Telephone  (03) 9615 5970

Stock Exchange Listing

Australian Stock Exchange
530 Collins Street
Melbourne  3000

Internet Website

www.pmsltd.com.au

Email

marketing@pmsltd.com.au
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Our Vision

To be acknowledged as a leading international property
maintenance services group.

Our Mission

To constantly improve our services to customers by designing
superior systems and processes through the contribution of
ideas into the knowledge base of the organisation.

OUR CUSTOMERS
To identify and satisfy the needs of our customers by providing
cost-effective property maintenance services where safety and
quality are achieved through a commitment to excellence.

OUR PEOPLE
To recognise individual and team success by providing 
both reward and career development within a safe 
working environment.

OUR COMMUNITIES
To operate in an environmentally responsible manner 
and support our local communities by providing regional
employment, training and apprenticeship opportunities.

OUR SHAREHOLDERS
To grow and develop the company’s business in a responsible,
ethical and profitable manner, thereby maximising our
shareholder value.

Corporate Directory



*Licensed in Melbourne, Sydney�
Brisbane and Adelaide
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